



SPONSOR: Rep. Longhurst & Rep. Bush & Sen. Sturgeon
Reps. Heffernan, K. Johnson, Matthews, Osienski,
Ramone; Sens. Mantzavinos, Pinkney, Townsend, Walsh

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
151st GENERAL ASSEMBLY

HOUSE BILL NO. 480

AN ACT TO AMEND TITLES 14, 16, 29, AND 30 OF THE DELAWARE CODE RELATING TO FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR EDUCATION.

1 WHEREAS, the undergraduate student debt per student from a Delaware institution of higher education will
2 average \$36,243 in federal and private student loan debt compared to a national average of \$30,000; and

3 WHEREAS, the average starting salary for a college graduate with a bachelor's degree in Delaware is \$57,000;
4 and

5 WHEREAS, national research shows that families earning between \$40,000 and \$59,000 per year accumulated up
6 to 60% more debt than their peers to cover rising college costs because of lack of access to scholarships and grants and
7 minimal family savings; and

8 WHEREAS, college graduates with substantial debt are less likely to purchase a home and car; and

9 WHEREAS, students who accrue student loan debt and leave college before graduating are more likely to have
10 lower credit scores and enter into default or become delinquent in payments on student loans; and

11 WHEREAS, Delaware's current loan incentive programs are not aligned to support the State's high demand career
12 fields; and

13 WHEREAS, Delaware has seen a steady decline in the number of applicants for loan incentive programs and an
14 increase in applications for emergency funding scholarships and need-based scholarships; and

15 WHEREAS, Delaware currently has eight different loan incentive programs, but only three of those (speech
16 pathology, teaching, and nursing) support high demand career fields.

17 NOW, THEREFORE:

18 BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE:

19 Section 1. Amend Chapter 34, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
20 insertions as shown by underline as follows and redesignating accordingly:

21 Subchapter I. Delaware Higher Education Office Student Assistance Programs

22 § 3402. Administration.

23 (a) This chapter ~~shall be~~ is administered by the Delaware Higher Education Office, hereinafter referred to as the
24 “Office.”

25 (b) The Office is ~~hereby~~ authorized to award student financial aid from the programs described in this chapter
26 subject to the limits of its appropriations for this purpose.

27 ~~(c) The Office shall adopt such rules and regulations as it deems necessary, proper, convenient or incidental to the~~
28 ~~administration of this subchapter. The Department of Education, through the Office and subject to the approval of the State~~
29 ~~Board of Education, is authorized to adopt rules and regulations to implement this subchapter and the student assistance~~
30 ~~programs that it administers.~~

31 ~~(d) The Office may establish temporary or permanent advisory groups to assist in administration of these~~
32 ~~programs. [Repealed.]~~

33 ~~(e) The Office shall publish annually in 2 newspapers of general circulation within the State an announcement of~~
34 ~~the application deadlines. The Office shall inform college financial aid officers and high school guidance counselors within~~
35 ~~the State of application procedures and deadlines.~~

36 (f) Unless otherwise provided, no student ~~shall be~~ is eligible for student assistance programs authorized in this
37 chapter who ~~was not~~ has not been a resident of the State for at least 12 consecutive months immediately prior to the
38 program application deadline. The place of residence of a student who is dependent on parental financial support ~~shall be~~ is
39 deemed to be the legal residence of the student’s parent or guardian. The place of residence of an independent student ~~shall~~
40 be is deemed to be the legal residence of the student. Whether a student is considered to be independent ~~shall be~~ is
41 determined on the basis of the federal government’s financial aid independent student definition. No student ~~shall be~~ is
42 deemed to satisfy for the first time the residence requirement of these programs while the student’s principal occupation is
43 that of student in a postsecondary program. Evidence of legal residence in Delaware that is deemed satisfactory to the
44 Office must be provided. Such evidence may include: prior year Delaware income tax return, a valid Delaware driver’s
45 license, a valid Delaware vehicle registration card or other evidence of bona fide residence in Delaware. Delaware
46 residence ~~shall be~~ is considered terminated 12 months after a move from the State.

47 (g) Unless otherwise provided, awards from the programs authorized in this chapter may be used only at a higher
48 education institution with accreditation from an accrediting agency recognized by the U.S. Department of Education,
49 ~~regionally accredited colleges and universities. Under exceptional circumstances in the case of a person who will attend a~~
50 ~~program of graduate study, the Office may, in its discretion, grant a temporary waiver to the requirement of accreditation by~~
51 ~~one of the regional accrediting associations where the institution is in the process of becoming accredited or where other~~
52 ~~comparable evidence of academic quality is provided.~~

53 (j) Disbursement of scholarship funds shall be made only to institutions, not to individual recipients, upon receipt
54 of institutional verification that the student's academic, ~~financial~~ financial, and enrollment status meet program
55 requirements.

56 (k) (1) If, at the end of the drop/add period for a term, a recipient has withdrawn from school or otherwise does not
57 qualify for full payment, the following refund ~~policies~~ policy shall apply:

58 (1) a. A student who will not be charged tuition or will receive a full refund of tuition paid is not entitled
59 to receive any portion of the award and the full amount shall be refunded to the ~~Office~~; Office.

60 (2) b. A student who will be charged full tuition shall receive the full amount of the award for that ~~term~~;
61 ~~and term~~.

62 (3) c. A student who will be charged a percentage of tuition is entitled to that same percentage of the
63 award, and the balance shall be refunded to the Office.

64 (2) If a recipient's school closes, the school must refund the full payment amount to the Office.

65 (l) The Office may grant leaves of absence to students under circumstances including but not limited to: severe or
66 prolonged illness; family emergency; ~~religious obligation or~~ local, state, or national state of emergency; religious
67 obligation; or to pursue activities directly related to the student's educational program.

68 (m) ~~Recipients who are enrolled in cooperative education programs may receive funds only for those terms when~~
69 ~~they are attending classes, not for terms spent in work experience. [Repealed.]~~

70 (o) Calculation of cumulative grade point average in postsecondary coursework ~~will~~ shall include grades earned at
71 ~~all postsecondary institutions. the most recent postsecondary institution attended.~~

72 (p) The number and amount of awards shall be determined annually by the Office, except that awards may not
73 exceed the cost of tuition, mandatory fees, room, board, books and other direct and indirect educational expenses.

74 (q) The Office shall annually report ~~to the General Assembly of the State~~ the number of recipients, ~~the institutions~~
75 ~~attended by the recipients,~~ recipients and the total amount of expenditures made under this ~~chapter.~~ chapter for the
76 programs administered by the Office. The report shall be delivered to the General Assembly, the Director and the Librarian
77 of the Division of Research of Legislative Council, and the Delaware Public Archives. Members of the General Assembly
78 may request the institutions attended by recipients.

79 (r) The Office is authorized to allocate unused funds among the various programs, with prior approval of the
80 Secretary of Education, the Director of the Office of Management and ~~Budget~~ Budget, and the Controller General, to meet
81 state priorities, achieve program objectives, and respond to student demand.

82 (t) The General Assembly shall each year in the Budget Act appropriate a sum to be known as Scholarships and
83 ~~Loans~~ for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this chapter. Awards shall be made based on the amount of funds
84 appropriated by the General Assembly and student demand.

85 Subchapter II. ~~Scholarship Incentive Program~~ Need-Based Scholarships Administered by the Office

86 § 3411. ~~Purpose: Scholarship Incentive Program (ScIP).~~

87 (a) It is the intent and purpose of the General Assembly through this subchapter to do the following:

88 (1) Provide financial aid to Delaware residents with demonstrated financial need so that within the limits of
89 the fiscal capabilities of the State they ~~shall not be~~ are not denied an opportunity for a college education because of
90 financial ~~need;~~need.

91 (2) ~~Provide a financial incentive for higher academic achievement for students who qualify to receive such~~
92 ~~scholarships; and~~

93 (3) (2) Encourage qualified Delaware students to pursue courses of ~~graduate undergraduate, graduate, and~~
94 professional education when such courses are unavailable in state-supported institutions. ~~institutions and when such~~
95 ~~pursuit is deemed in the best interest of the State.~~

96 (b) The Office is hereby authorized to award scholarships from the Scholarship Incentive Program (ScIP) subject
97 to the limits of its appropriations and the following limitations:

98 (1) Scholarships shall be awarded only to persons who will enroll as full-time students in degree programs.

99 (2) No student may receive more than 5 annual scholarships for either undergraduate or graduate study.

100 (3) Scholarships may be used only at educational institutions that are accredited by an accrediting agency
101 recognized by the U.S. Secretary of Education for either of the following:

102 a. For undergraduate study, inside of the State.

103 b. For undergraduate or graduate study outside of the State in degree programs that are not offered by a
104 publicly assisted institution in Delaware.

105 (4) Scholarships shall be awarded on the basis of financial need. Financial need shall be determined by a
106 federally approved need analysis system. The financial need calculation shall consider the student's expected family
107 contribution, the expense of attending the institution selected, and the student's eligibility for Pell grants and other
108 federal, state or private grant assistance.

109 (5) Students must reapply for the scholarships annually, maintain satisfactory academic progress at their
110 educational institution, and continue to meet all qualifications of the program.

111 § 3412. ~~Administration.~~

112 (a) ~~The Office shall receive and administer federal funds under the Leveraging Educational Assistance Partnership~~
113 ~~(LEAP) and Special Leveraging Educational Assistance Partnership (SLEAP) [20 U.S.C. § 1070c], state funds~~
114 ~~appropriated from the General Fund, and private sources for the purposes set forth in this subchapter.~~

115 (b) ~~The Office may apply for and receive such funds as may be available to the State from any agency of the~~
116 ~~federal government or private sources as grants for student financial assistance programs at the postsecondary level.~~

117 § 3413. Scholarships.

118 The Office is hereby authorized to award scholarships from the Scholarship Incentive Program (SciP) subject to
119 the limits of its appropriations and the following limitations:

120 (1) ~~Scholarships shall be awarded only to persons who will enroll as full-time students in degree programs.~~

121 (2) ~~No student may receive more than 5 annual scholarships for either undergraduate or graduate study.~~

122 (3) ~~Scholarships shall be used only at educational institutions:~~

123 a. ~~In Delaware for undergraduate study;~~

124 b. ~~In states that have established scholarship reciprocity agreements with the State and the Office for~~
125 ~~undergraduate study; or~~

126 c. ~~For undergraduate or graduate study in degree programs that are not offered by a publicly assisted institution in~~
127 ~~Delaware.~~

128 (4) ~~Scholarships shall be awarded on the basis of financial need and academic merit. Financial need shall be~~
129 ~~determined by a federally approved need analysis system. The financial need calculation shall consider the student's~~
130 ~~expected family contribution, the expense of attending the institution selected, and the student's eligibility for Pell grants~~
131 ~~and other federal, state or private grant assistance.~~

132 (5) ~~Students must reapply for the scholarships annually, and must continue to meet all qualifications of the~~
133 ~~program.~~

134 Subchapter III. ~~Professional Incentive Programs~~ Career-Based Scholarships and Incentive Loans Administered by
135 the Office

136 § 3416. ~~Purpose.~~ Career-based scholarships.

137 (a) It is the intent and purpose of the General Assembly through this subchapter to enable and encourage
138 academically talented Delawareans to pursue careers in specific fields identified as areas of need and to encourage students
139 to practice their profession in Delaware. need within the State.

140 (b) A committee of 5 to 8 members chosen by the Office for their knowledge of and expertise in employment
141 trends in Delaware will review employment trends in Delaware and identify no more than 8 to 10 high need career fields

142 from which scholarship applicants will be chosen. The career fields will be reviewed every 5 years by the committee.
143 Additionally, the committee will define retention strategies to encourage recipients to pursue careers in
144 Delaware. Contingent upon funding from the General Assembly and based on the size of the applicant pool, at least one
145 student in each high need career field will be awarded a career-based scholarship annually.

146 (c) To be eligible for a career-based scholarship an applicant must meet all of the following criteria:

147 (1) The applicant must be enrolled in an undergraduate program of study leading to a career in a high need
148 field as determined by the committee under subsection (a) of this section.

149 (2) The applicant must be a resident of this State.

150 (3) The applicant must be enrolled at a college or university that is located in Delaware and is accredited by an
151 accrediting agency recognized by the U.S. Secretary of Education.

152 (d) The amount of an award is determined by the Office.

153 (e) Awards are renewable for up to three additional years if the student remains enrolled in a program of study
154 leading to a career in a high need field as determined under subsection (a) of this section and maintains satisfactory
155 academic progress.

156 (f) If the committee determines that a particular high need field is no longer high need, students enrolled in a
157 program of study leading to a career in that field will be eligible to renew their scholarship up to three additional years.

158 § 3417. Awards: Incentive loans awarded prior to July 1, 2022.

159 (a) Awards shall be made based on academic merit using criteria established by the Office. [Repealed.]

160 (b) For the purpose of this section, an award is a loan the repayment of which is forgiven when the borrower is
161 employed in the specified profession required in each program for the specified period of time in accordance with the
162 conditions specified in this section, a scholarship that is not repaid to the State. Recipients awarded incentive loans prior to
163 July 1, 2022, will be awarded a scholarship instead of an incentive loan if they are eligible to renew their award as provided
164 in subsection (c) of this section. Recipients will be required to repay the full amount of any incentive loans made to them
165 prior to July 1, 2022, unless the amount is forgiven as provided in this subchapter.

166 (c) Renewal of awards shall be is limited to the number of years that constitute the standard full-time completion
167 rate. To be eligible for renewal of an award, the recipient must meet the academic progress standards set by the Office and
168 communicated in writing to the recipient at the time the initial award is granted. Except for recipients of incentive loans
169 under the Ada Leigh Soles Memorial Professional Librarian and Archivist Incentive Program, the Office will determine
170 whether a recipient is eligible to renew an award. The Division of Libraries will determine whether a recipient of an

171 incentive loan under the Ada Leigh Soles Memorial Professional Librarian and Archivist Incentive Program is eligible to
172 renew an award.

173 ~~(d) The Office may establish and modify interest rates to achieve purposes of the program, but in no case shall the~~
174 ~~interest rate be less than that charged to students in the Federal Family Education Loan Program (FFELP) or its successor.~~

175 ~~(e) The interest rate charged to a recipient for his or her initial award shall be constant for subsequent awards for~~
176 ~~study toward the same degree or certification.~~

177 § 3418. Repayment and ~~forgiveness.~~ forgiveness of incentive loans awarded prior to July 1, 2022.

178 § 3419. Christa McAuliffe scholarship ~~loans.~~ loans awarded prior to July 1, 2022.

179 (a) *Purpose.* — It is the intent and purpose of this program to encourage academically talented Delawareans to
180 pursue teaching careers in Delaware public schools.

181 (b) ~~[Repealed.] Awards.~~ — (1) ~~Except where there are no equivalent programs of study offered in state, awards~~
182 ~~shall be provided for study at Delaware institutions in undergraduate education or programs leading to teacher certification.~~

183 ~~(2) Awards may be prorated for students who will be enrolled less than full time in a qualifying program.~~

184 ~~(3) Awards may be renewed to a maximum of the equivalent of 4 full time awards.~~

185 (c) *Repayment and forgiveness.* — (1) For purposes of this program, qualifying employment is employment as a
186 teacher in a Delaware public school, whether as an employee of the State, the Department of Education, a school district or
187 an individual school, or as an employee of a private organization providing educational services to Delaware school
188 children under a contract with the State, the Department of Education, a school district or an individual school.

189 (2) Awards will be forgiven at a rate of 1 year of qualifying employment for 1 year of loan.

190 ~~§ 3420. Critical need scholarships.~~

191 ~~Transferred by 77 Del. Laws, c. 431, § 10, effective July 23, 2010, to § 3461 of this title.~~

192 § 3421. Delaware ~~Nursing Incentive Program.~~ nursing incentive program loans awarded prior to July 1, 2022.

193 (a) *Purpose.* — It is the intent and purpose of the General Assembly through this subchapter to enable and
194 encourage academically talented Delawareans to pursue nursing careers at state-operated hospitals or nonprofit hospitals
195 located in this State.

196 (b) ~~[Repealed.] Awards.~~ — (1) ~~Awards shall be provided for undergraduate education at regionally accredited~~
197 ~~institutions of higher education or accredited hospital schools of nursing for the following objectives:~~

198 a. ~~A course of study leading to a Bachelor of Science in Nursing degree, if the award recipient is a registered nurse~~
199 ~~with an aggregate of 5 years or more employment with the State or with nonprofit hospitals located in this State;~~

200 b. ~~For all other recipients, a course of study leading to certification as a registered nurse or practical nurse.~~

201 (2) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, awards may be made available, on a prorated basis, to
202 employees of the State who are enrolled as part-time nursing students.

203 (3) ~~The Delaware residence requirement shall not apply to any employee of the State who is enrolled as a~~
204 ~~part-time nursing student and who has 5 or more years of state service.~~

205 (c) *Repayment and forgiveness.* — (1) For the purposes of this program, qualifying employment shall be
206 employment as a licensed practical nurse or a registered nurse at a state-owned hospital or clinic or a nonprofit hospital
207 located in this State.

208 (2) Loans will be forgiven at the rate of 1 year of employment for 1 year of loan.

209 § 3422. ~~Speech/language pathologist incentive loan.~~ loan awarded prior to July 1, 2022.

210 (a) *Purpose.* — ~~It is the intent and purpose of this program to encourage individuals to pursue careers in speech~~
211 ~~language pathology in Delaware public schools and in the Part C, Birth to Three Early Intervention System programs.~~

212 (b) *Eligibility.* — ~~Awards shall be provided for graduate education in a Delaware school that is accredited, or is a~~
213 ~~candidate for accreditation, by the Council on Academic Accreditation in Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology~~
214 ~~(CAA) of the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, that will satisfy the educational requirements for Delaware~~
215 ~~state licensure as a speech/language pathologist.~~

216 (c) *Repayment and forgiveness.* — (1) For purposes of this program, qualifying employment ~~shall be~~ is
217 employment as a licensed speech pathologist either in a Delaware public school or by a provider for programs serving
218 infants and toddlers under Part C, Birth to Three Early Intervention System and their contractors.

219 (2) Loans will be forgiven at the rate of 1 year of employment for 1 year of loan.

220 (d) *Exceptions.* — ~~Additional scholarship awards may be provided to the first graduates of the University of~~
221 ~~Delaware's speech/language pathology program who graduated in 2018 and are currently teaching in Delaware schools.~~

222 § 3423. Ada Leigh Soles Memorial Professional Librarian and Archivist Incentive Program. Program loans
223 awarded prior to July 1, 2022.

224 (a) *Purpose.* — It is the intent and purpose of this Program to enable and encourage academically talented
225 Delawareans to pursue careers as librarians and archivists in Delaware.

226 (b) *Awards.* ~~[Repealed.]~~ (1) ~~Awards shall be provided for graduate education in master's degree programs of~~
227 ~~library and information studies that are accredited by the American Library Association. Preference shall be given to~~
228 ~~persons currently employed by a Delaware public library, county department of libraries, public school library or state~~
229 ~~agency library, a member library of the Delaware Library Consortium, or archive.~~

230 ~~(2) Awards may also be provided for a course of study leading to a bachelor's degree prior to the master's~~
231 ~~degree and/or a doctoral degree following the master's degree. Awards shall be limited to persons who have been~~
232 ~~employed at a Delaware public library, county department of libraries, public school library, a member library of the~~
233 ~~Delaware Library Consortium, or state agency library or archive for a minimum of 2 years.~~

234 ~~(3) Selection criteria may include consideration of community service, academic achievement and financial~~
235 ~~need.~~

236 (c) *Repayment and forgiveness.* — (1) For purposes of this program, qualifying employment ~~shall be~~ is
237 employment as a librarian or archivist in a public library, public school library, a member library of the Delaware Library
238 Consortium, state agency or political subdivision in Delaware.

239 (2) Loans will be forgiven at the rate of 1 year of employment for 1 year of loan for bachelor's degree
240 students, and 2 years of employment for 1 year of loan for master's and doctoral degree students.

241 (3) The repayment and forgiveness of incentive loans awarded under this program prior to July 1, 2022 will be
242 administered by the Office.

243 § 3424. Optometry scholarship loan. ~~loan awarded prior to July 1, 2022.~~

244 (a) *Purpose.* — It is the intent of this program to encourage academically talented students to pursue careers as
245 optometrists in Delaware. This program replaces the Optometric Institutional Aid Program, but does not change or limit the
246 terms of contracts made to individuals under the provisions of the Optometric Institutional Aid Program.

247 (b) ~~[Repealed.] Awards.~~ — (1) ~~Awards shall be made to baccalaureate degree holders who will enroll as full-time~~
248 ~~students in programs that prepare students for licensure as optometrists in Delaware.~~

249 ~~(2) The Office may limit attendance to one or more designated institutions, or may allow loans to be used at~~
250 ~~any qualifying college of optometry.~~

251 (c) *Repayment and forgiveness.* — (1) For purposes of this program, qualifying employment ~~shall be~~ is the practice
252 of optometry in the State.

253 (2) Loans will be forgiven at a rate of 1 year of employment for 1 year of loan.

254 Subchapter IV. ~~Merit-Based Scholarship Programs~~ Educator Support Programs

255 § 3435. Financial assistance programs for speech-language pathologists.

256 (a) Speech-Language Pathologist Scholarship.

257 (1) It is the intent and purpose of the General Assembly through this section to enable and encourage
258 Delawareans to pursue careers as speech-language pathologists in Delaware public schools and in the Birth to Three
259 Program under Part C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.

260 (2) To be eligible for the Speech-Language Pathologist Scholarship, an applicant must be enrolled as full-time
261 student in a Master’s degree program in a Delaware postsecondary institution that is accredited, or is a candidate for
262 accreditation, by the Council on Academic Accreditation in Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology (CAA) of the
263 American Speech-Language-Hearing Association and that will lead to licensure as a speech-language pathologist in
264 Delaware.

265 (3) Application requirements will be established by the Office.

266 (4) Scholarships will be awarded contingent upon funding from the General Assembly and based on the size
267 of the applicant pool.

268 (5) Awards may be renewed for a total of 2 years of graduate study, provided the recipient meets the renewal
269 requirements established by the Office.

270 (b) Speech-Language Pathologist Student Loan Repayment Program

271 (1) The Speech-Language Pathologist Student Loan Repayment Program allows qualified applicants to apply
272 for a loan payment from the Office to the applicant’s lending agency to pay a portion of the applicant’s student loan
273 debt. The purpose of the program is to improve educational outcomes for students in Delaware public schools by
274 working to retain speech-language pathologists who provide professional support services that are of critical
275 importance to students.

276 (2) To be eligible for the Speech-Language Pathologist Student Loan Payment Program, all of the following
277 must apply:

278 a. The applicant must be employed full-time as a speech-language pathologist in a Delaware public
279 school for a minimum of 1 school year.

280 b. The applicant must have secured a qualified educational loan prior to submitting the application. For
281 the purpose of this section, a “qualified educational loan” means a government, commercial, or foundation loan for
282 actual costs paid for tuition and reasonable educational expenses related to the applicant’s undergraduate or
283 graduate degree program.

284 (3) In addition to the eligibility requirements in paragraph (b)(2) of this section, the Office is authorized to
285 adopt regulations that refine or narrow the eligibility requirements.

286 (4) The application to participate in the Speech-Language Pathologist Student Loan Payment Program must
287 require the applicant to certify that the applicant meets the eligibility requirements of paragraph (b)(2) and any other
288 requirements as provided in the program’s regulations. The application will otherwise be in the form prescribed by the

289 Office. Applicants must submit a new, completed application each year and any additional information the Office may
290 require as provided in the program's regulations.

291 (5) The Office's ability to make a loan payment on an applicant's behalf is contingent upon the availability of
292 funds. If possible, the Office will make a loan payment on behalf of every applicant who satisfies the eligibility
293 requirements of paragraph (b)(2) of this section and as provided in the program's regulations, consistent with the
294 limitations established in paragraph (b)(8) of this section. If there are insufficient funds to make a loan payment on
295 behalf of every applicant who satisfies the eligibility requirements of paragraph (b)(2) of this section and as provided in
296 the program's regulations, the Office must give priority to applicants who have the greatest financial need as
297 determined by the Office. In determining an applicant's financial need, the Office must request from the applicant the
298 applicant's income and the total amount of the applicant's qualified educational loans.

299 (6) The Office has sole discretion to prioritize applications and determine loan payments consistent with the
300 requirements of paragraph (b)(5) of this section.

301 (7) If the Office decides to make a loan payment on behalf of an applicant, the Office must make the loan
302 payment directly to the applicant's lending agency.

303 (8) A loan payment under this program may not exceed \$5,000 per year. An applicant may receive only 1
304 loan payment on the applicant's behalf per year. An applicant may not receive more than 3 loan payments on the
305 applicant's behalf in the applicant's lifetime.

306 (9) If an applicant knowingly submits false information or commits fraud in connection with the application
307 process, the Office may reevaluate the applicant's eligibility for a loan payment and may withdraw its decision to make
308 a loan payment on the applicant's behalf. Any loan payment made as a result of deliberate fraud may be recovered by
309 the Department of Justice through an action at law.

310 § 3438. Educator Support Scholarship.

311 (a) It is the intent and purpose of the General Assembly through this section to enable and encourage Delawareans
312 to pursue careers in Delaware public schools as teachers or specialists in specific areas identified as areas of need within the
313 State.

314 (b) The areas of need will be determined each year by the Office.

315 (c) To be eligible for the educator support scholarship, all of the following apply:

316 (1) The applicant must be enrolled in an undergraduate or graduate program of study leading to a career
317 as a teacher or specialist in an area of need as determined by the Office.

318 (2) The applicant must be a resident of this State.

319 (3) The applicant must be enrolled at a college or university that is located in Delaware and is accredited
320 by an accrediting agency recognized by the U.S. Secretary of Education.

321 (d) Contingent upon funding from the General Assembly and based on the size of the applicant pool, at least one
322 applicant in each area of need will be awarded the scholarship annually. The amount of the award will be determined by the
323 Office.

324 (e) Awards are renewable for up to three additional years if the recipient remains enrolled in a program of study
325 leading to a career as a teacher or specialist in an area of need as determined by the Office and maintains satisfactory
326 academic progress.

327 (f) If a particular area is determined to no longer be an area of need, recipients enrolled in a program of study
328 leading to a career in that area are eligible to renew their award up to three additional years.

329 § 3439. Financial Assistance Programs for School Counselors, School Psychologists, and School Social Workers.

330 (a) Mental Health Services Scholarship.

331 (1) To be eligible for the Mental Health Services Scholarship, an applicant must be enrolled as a full-time
332 student in a Master's degree program in a Delaware postsecondary institution that will lead to certification as a school
333 counselor, school psychologist, or school social worker in a Delaware public school.

334 (2) Application requirements will be established by the Office.

335 (3) Scholarships will be awarded contingent upon funding from the General Assembly and based on the size
336 of the applicant pool.

337 (4) Awards may be renewed for a total of 2 years of graduate study, provided the recipient meets the renewal
338 requirements established by the Office.

339 (b) Mental Health Services Student Loan Repayment Program.

340 (1) The Mental Health Services Student Loan Repayment Program allows qualified applicants to apply for a
341 loan payment from the Office to the applicant's lending agency to pay a portion of the applicant's student loan
342 debt. The purpose of the program is to improve educational outcomes for students in Delaware public schools by
343 working to retain school counselors, school psychologists, and school social workers who provide professional support
344 services that are of critical importance to students.

345 (2) To be eligible for the Mental Health Services Student Loan Repayment Program, all of the following must
346 apply:

347 a. The applicant must be employed full-time as a school counselor, school psychologist, or school social
348 worker in a Delaware public school for a minimum of 1 school year.

349 b. The applicant must have secured a qualified educational loan prior to submitting the application. For
350 the purpose of this section, a “qualified educational loan” means a government, commercial, or foundation loan for
351 actual costs paid for tuition and reasonable educational expenses related to the applicant’s undergraduate or
352 graduate degree program.

353 c. The applicant must hold an educator’s license and certificate issued by the Department.

354 (3) In addition to the eligibility requirements in paragraph (b)(2) of this section, the Office is authorized to
355 adopt regulations that refine or narrow the eligibility requirements.

356 (4) The application to participate in the Mental Health Services Student Loan Payment Program must require
357 the applicant to certify that the applicant meets the eligibility requirements of paragraph (b)(2) of this section and as
358 provided in the program’s regulations. The application will otherwise be in the form prescribed by the
359 Office. Applicants must submit a new, completed application each year and any additional information the Office may
360 require as provided in the program’s regulations.

361 (5) The Office’s ability to make a loan payment on an applicant’s behalf is contingent upon the availability of
362 funds. If possible, the Office will make a loan payment on behalf of every applicant who satisfies the eligibility
363 requirements of paragraph (b)(2) of this section and as provided in the program’s regulations, consistent with the
364 limitations established in paragraph (b)(8) of this section. If there are insufficient funds to make a loan payment on
365 behalf of every applicant who satisfies the eligibility requirements of paragraph (b)(2) and as provided in the program’s
366 regulations, the Office must give priority to applicants who have the greatest financial need as determined by the
367 Office. In determining an applicant’s financial need, the Office must request from the applicant the applicant’s income
368 and the total amount of the applicant’s qualified educational loans.

369 (6) The Office has the sole discretion to prioritize applications and determine loan payments consistent with
370 the requirements of paragraph (b)(5) of this section.

371 (7) If the Office decides to make a loan payment on behalf of an applicant, the Office must make the loan
372 payment directly to the applicant’s lending agency.

373 (8) A loan payment under this program may not exceed \$5,000 per year. An applicant may receive only 1
374 loan payment on the applicant’s behalf per year. An applicant may not receive more than 3 loan payments on the
375 applicant’s behalf in the applicant’s lifetime.

376 (9) If an applicant knowingly submits false information or commits fraud in connection with the application
377 process, the Office may reevaluate the applicant’s eligibility for a loan payment and may withdraw its decision to make

378 a loan payment on the applicant's behalf. Any loan payment made as a result of deliberate fraud may be recovered by
379 the Department of Justice through an action at law.

380 Subchapter V. ~~Memorial Scholarships~~ Merit-Based Scholarship Programs

381 § 3440. Purpose.

382 It is the intent and purpose of the General Assembly through this subchapter to provide scholarships to deserving
383 ~~Delawareans~~ Delaware students in memory of elected officials and other distinguished citizens who served the State with
384 distinction and for whom recognition through an education endowment is a fitting memorial. To this end, the General
385 Assembly hereby establishes the Memorial Scholarship Fund.

386 § 3441. Awards.

387 (b) ~~Scholarships shall be awarded in an amount sufficient to meet the costs of tuition, required fees, room, board~~
388 ~~and books at the institution specified. [Repealed.]~~

389 (e) Awards ~~shall be~~ are renewable within the limits of appropriations for the program, to a maximum of 4 awards,
390 provided the student meets the academic progress standards set by the Office and communicated in writing to the recipient
391 at the time the initial award is granted.

392 § 3442. B. Bradford Barnes Memorial Scholarship.

393 Awards:

394 ~~(1) (a)~~ (1) (a) One scholarship ~~shall~~ will be awarded each year to a graduating high school senior who will enter the
395 University of Delaware.

396 ~~(2) (b)~~ (2) (b) The Office ~~shall~~ will award scholarships only to students who have ~~accepted an admissions offer~~ received
397 an offer of admission from the University of Delaware ~~by a deadline date established by agreement between the University~~
398 ~~of Delaware and the Office.~~ Delaware. The award must be accepted by the deadline established by the Office and ~~may not~~
399 be deferred.

400 (c) Scholarships will be awarded in an amount sufficient to meet the costs of tuition, required fees, room, board,
401 and books at the University of Delaware.

402 § 3443. Herman M. Holloway, Sr. Memorial Scholarship.

403 Awards:

404 ~~(1) (a)~~ (1) (a) One scholarship ~~shall~~ will be awarded each year to a student who will enter Delaware State University.

405 ~~(2) (b)~~ (2) (b) The Office ~~shall~~ will award scholarships only to students who ~~have accepted an admissions offer~~ received
406 an offer of admission from Delaware State University ~~by a deadline date established by agreement between Delaware State~~

407 ~~University and the Office. University. The award must be accepted by the deadline established by the Office and may not~~
408 ~~be deferred.~~

409 ~~(c) Scholarships will be awarded in an amount sufficient to meet the costs of tuition, required fees, room, board,~~
410 ~~and books at Delaware State University.~~

411 ~~§ 3444. Charles L. "Chuck" Hebner Memorial Scholarship. Scholarship awarded prior to July 1, 2022.~~

412 ~~Recipients awarded the Charles L. "Chuck" Hebner Memorial Scholarship prior to July 1, 2022 are eligible to~~
413 ~~renew their awards as provided in § 3441(e) of this title.~~

414 ~~Awards:~~

415 ~~(1) Each year, 1 scholarship shall be awarded to a qualifying student at the University of Delaware, and 1~~
416 ~~scholarship shall be awarded to a qualifying student at Delaware State University.~~

417 ~~(2) Scholarships will be awarded to students who will major in humanities or social sciences.~~

418 ~~(3) Priority will be given to students who will major in political science.~~

419 ~~(4) The Office shall award scholarships only to students who have accepted an admissions offer from the~~
420 ~~University of Delaware or Delaware State University by a deadline date established by agreement between the Office and~~
421 ~~each University respectively.~~

422 ~~§ 3446. Michael C. Ferguson Achievement Awards.~~

423 ~~Transferred by 77 Del. Laws, c. 431, § 9, effective July 23, 2010, to § 3460 of this title.~~

424 ~~Subchapter VII. Other Financial Assistance Programs Not Administered by the Office~~

425 ~~§ 3460. Michael C. Ferguson Achievement Awards.~~

426 ~~Michael C. Ferguson Achievement Awards shall be administered pursuant to rules and regulations adopted by the~~
427 ~~Department of Education as set forth in the provisions of § 153(e) of this title.~~

428 ~~§ 3462. Fund. Ada Leigh Soles Memorial Professional Librarian and Archivist Scholarship.~~

429 ~~Repealed by 77 Del. Laws, c. 431, § 8, effective July 23, 2010.~~

430 ~~(a) Purpose. — It is the intent and purpose of this scholarship to enable and encourage academically talented~~
431 ~~Delawareans to pursue careers as librarians and archivists in Delaware.~~

432 ~~(b) Administration.~~

433 ~~(1) This scholarship is administered by the Delaware Division of Libraries.~~

434 ~~(2) The Division of Libraries shall adopt rules and regulations as it deems necessary and proper to administer~~
435 ~~the provisions of this scholarship.~~

436 ~~(c) Awards.~~

437 (1) Awards shall be provided for graduate education in master's degree programs of library and information
438 studies that are accredited by the American Library Association. Preference shall be given to persons currently
439 employed by a Delaware public library, county department of libraries, public school library or state agency library, a
440 member library of the Delaware Library Consortium, or archive.

441 (2) Awards may also be provided for a course of study leading to a bachelor's degree prior to the master's
442 degree and/or a doctoral degree following the master's degree. Awards shall be limited to persons who have been
443 employed at a Delaware public library, county department of libraries, public school library, a member library of the
444 Delaware Library Consortium, or state agency library or archive for a minimum of 2 years.

445 (3) Selection criteria may include consideration of community service, academic achievement, and financial
446 need.

447 (d) Renewal.

448 (1) Renewal of awards is limited to the number of years that constitute the standard full-time completion rate. To
449 be eligible for renewal of an award, the recipient must meet the academic progress standards set by the Division of
450 Libraries and communicated in writing to the recipient at the time the initial award is granted. The Division of Libraries
451 will determine whether a recipient of an incentive loan under the Ada Leigh Soles Memorial Professional Librarian and
452 Archivist Incentive Program is eligible to renew an award.

453 (2) Recipients of incentive loans under the Ada Leigh Soles Memorial Professional Librarian and Archivist
454 Incentive Program awarded prior to July 1, 2022 are eligible to renew their award as provided in § 3417 of this title. The
455 Division of Libraries will determine whether such recipient is eligible to renew an award.

456 ~~§ 3463. Use of Fund.~~

457 ~~Repealed by 77 Del. Laws, c. 431, § 8, effective July 23, 2010.~~

458 ~~§ 3464. Allocation of Fund.~~

459 ~~Repealed by 77 Del. Laws, c. 431, § 8, effective July 23, 2010.~~

460 ~~§ 3465. Eligible organizations.~~

461 ~~Repealed by 77 Del. Laws, c. 431, § 8, effective July 23, 2010.~~

462 § 3466. Tuition and fees for spouses and children of active duty military.

463 Notwithstanding any other provision of this code, the spouse and any child of a member of the active military
464 service of the United States, who has been assigned to duty elsewhere immediately following assignment to duty in
465 Delaware, ~~shall be~~ is deemed to be an in-state resident for the purposes of determining tuition, fees, and other charges at

466 Delaware public universities, colleges, or community colleges, and is entitled to pay the tuition, fees and other charges
467 imposed upon Delaware residents as long as the spouse or child remains enrolled at such institution.

468 Subchapter VIII. ~~Legislative Essay Scholarship~~ [Repealed.]

469 § 3470. ~~Purpose.~~

470 ~~The purpose of the Legislative Essay Scholarship is to encourage high school students to learn about and~~
471 ~~appreciate the foundations of American government, and to demonstrate this understanding and writing skill through an~~
472 ~~annual essay contest.~~

473 § 3471. ~~Eligibility.~~

474 ~~Eligible students are 12th graders who are enrolled in a public, private or charter school or a home school program.~~

475 § 3472. ~~Essays.~~

476 (a) ~~Essays must be original and between 500 and 2,000 words in length.~~

477 (b) ~~The topic shall be chosen each year by a committee that consists of 1 member of the Delaware Higher~~
478 ~~Education Office designated by the Director of the Office, 1 member designated by the president of the Delaware Society~~
479 ~~Sons of the American Revolution, and 1 member designated by the regent of the Delaware State Society Daughters of the~~
480 ~~American Revolution.~~

481 (c) ~~The topic of the essay must relate to:~~

482 (1) ~~Events, persons, philosophies, technologies, governments or ideals in American history;~~

483 (2) ~~The approximate 90-year period from 1770 to 1860, including events leading up to the American~~
484 ~~Revolutionary War, but excluding the Civil War; and~~

485 (3) ~~A positive approach to the overall theme of "Building the Foundations of the Modern United States of~~
486 ~~America."~~

487 § 3473. ~~Awards.~~

488 (a) ~~One \$1,000 nonrenewable scholarship shall be awarded to a twelfth grade student resident from each senatorial~~
489 ~~and representative district in the State whose essay meets the standards established by the Office.~~

490 (b) ~~Three statewide awards shall be made to the writers of the top 3 senatorial or representative district scholarship~~
491 ~~winners. These nonrenewable scholarships will be in the amounts of \$10,000, \$7,500 and \$5,000.~~

492 § 3474. [Reserved.]

493 Subchapter IX. ~~Education Endowment Fund~~ [Repealed.]

494 § 3475. ~~Purpose.~~

495 From time to time individuals, corporations and businesses desire to assist Delaware students in pursuing higher
496 education by establishing or contributing to scholarship funds. This endowment fund is established to encourage and focus
497 such giving.

498 § 3476. Fund.

499 The Office may receive, hold, invest, reinvest and use funds in the form of grants or gifts from private
500 corporations, trusts, individuals, organizations, groups and other sources to support Delaware residents in postsecondary
501 education programs.

502 (1) To qualify as tax deductible donations, contributions to the Fund must be made without restriction or
503 precondition.

504 (2) The Office shall ensure that contributors of qualifying donations receive such documentation as may be
505 necessary to support tax deduction of gifts to the Fund.

506 (3) The Office may establish such rules and regulations as it deems necessary for administration of this subchapter.

507 (4) The Office shall hold the Fund in an interest-bearing account, or may invest and reinvest funds to advance the
508 purposes of this subchapter.

509 (5) Awards from the Fund must be based on student financial need, but may include other criteria as may be
510 established by the Office.

511 Subchapter XII. ~~Delaware College Investment Plan~~ DE529 Education Savings Plan Administered by the Plans

512 Management Board

513 § 3483. Purpose.

514 It is the intent and purpose of the General Assembly through this subchapter to establish the ~~Delaware College~~
515 ~~Investment~~ DE529 Education Savings Plan pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 529 or successor section and to charge the Plans
516 Management Board to implement and maintain the Plan through the adoption of rules and regulations for the administration
517 of the Plan.

518 § 3485. Definitions.

519 As used in this subchapter:

520 (4) "Designated beneficiary" means, except as provided in § 3490 of this title, the individual designated at the
521 time the account is opened as having the right to receive a qualified withdrawal for the payment of qualified higher
522 education expenses or, if such designated beneficiary is replaced in accordance with § 3490 of this title, such replacement.

523 (9) "Plan" means the ~~Delaware College Investment~~ DE529 Education Savings Plan established by this subchapter.

524 (10) “Qualified ~~higher~~ education expenses” means tuition and other permitted expenses as ~~presently~~ set forth in 26
525 U.S.C. § 529(e) or as hereafter permitted by such successor or amended section for the enrollment or attendance of a
526 designated beneficiary at a ~~higher~~ education institution.

527 (11) “Qualified withdrawal” means a withdrawal from an account to pay the qualified ~~higher~~ education expenses
528 of the designated beneficiary, but only if the withdrawal is made in accordance with the requirements of the Plan.

529 § 3487. The Program.

530 (d) Total contributions to all accounts shall not exceed those reasonably necessary, considering the return on
531 contributions and the age and circumstances of the designated beneficiary, to provide for the qualified ~~higher~~ education
532 expenses of the beneficiary. The Board shall establish maximum contribution limits applicable to Plan accounts and shall
533 require such information from the account owner and the designated beneficiary to establish the limit as it relates to such
534 account.

535 § 3489. Prohibitions.

536 (a) No account nor any interest in an account ~~shall~~ may be assignable or pledged or otherwise used to secure or
537 obtain a loan or other advancement.

538 (b) No refund of a qualified educational expense payment may be paid by a ~~higher~~ an education institution directly
539 to the designated beneficiary or to the account owner. Any refund of qualified tuition expenses owed by a ~~higher~~ education
540 institution on account of an overpayment of educational expenses must be refunded to the Plan for credit to the designated
541 beneficiary’s account.

542 (c) A qualified withdrawal that is used to pay for qualified education expenses must be paid jointly to the
543 designated beneficiary and the ~~higher~~ education institution or directly to the ~~higher~~ education institution. A payment of
544 qualified education expenses may not be made directly to the beneficiary.

545 (d) Total contributions to all accounts established on behalf of a particular beneficiary in excess of those
546 reasonably necessary to meet the designated beneficiary’s qualified ~~higher~~ education expenses are prohibited.

547 Subchapter XIV. The Delaware Student Excellence Equals Degree Act Administered by Delaware Technical and
548 Community College and University of Delaware

549 Subchapter XV. The Delaware State Inspire Scholarship Act Administered by Delaware State University

550 Subchapter XVI. The Delaware Advance Scholarship Act Administered by University of Delaware

551 Section 2. Amend Subchapter IV, Chapter 34, Title 14 and Subchapter V, Chapter 34, Title 14 of the Delaware
552 Code by transferring § 3435, Subchapter IV, Chapter 34, Title 14 to Subchapter V, Chapter 34, Title 14, redesignating

553 present § 3435 as § 3447 of Subchapter V, Chapter 34, Title 14 and then making deletions as shown by strike through and
554 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

555 § 3435. ~~Diamond State Scholarship.~~ 3447. Charles L. “Chuck” Hebner Scholarship awarded after July 1, 2022.

556 (a) ~~Purpose.~~ — It is the purpose of this program to award merit-based scholarships to Delaware students who have
557 demonstrated academic excellence. The program is intended to serve as both an incentive and a reward for serious
558 academic achievement.

559 (b) ~~Awards.~~ — (1) (a) High school seniors who plan to enroll as full-time students at a degree-granting college
560 during the academic year immediately following high school graduation and who meet application requirements established
561 by the Office are eligible to apply.

562 (b) The amount of the award will be determined by the Office.

563 (2) ~~Application requirements shall be established by the Office and may include grades, standardized test scores,~~
564 ~~participation in extra-curricular activities, essay questions and other indicators of achievement.~~

565 (3) ~~Awards may be renewed for a total of 4 years of undergraduate study, provided the recipient meets renewal~~
566 ~~requirements established by the Office and communicated in writing at the time of the original award.~~

567 (4) ~~If a student fails to meet the renewal requirements, eligibility for the scholarship is terminated. Attainment of~~
568 ~~qualifying grades in subsequent years will not qualify the student for reinstatement to the program.~~

569 (5) (c) ~~Scholarships are provided for the purpose of meeting direct and indirect costs of higher education. Where~~
570 ~~such education costs are nonexistent or reduced, as in the case of U.S. military academies, the Office may designate a~~
571 ~~particular student as a Diamond State Charles L. Hebner Scholar without monetary award or may reduce the value of the~~
572 ~~scholarship.~~

573 Section 3. Amend Subchapter IV, Chapter 34, Title 14 and Subchapter VII, Chapter 34, Title 14 of the Delaware
574 Code by transferring § 3461, Subchapter VII, Chapter, 34, Title 14 to Subchapter IV, Chapter 34, Title 14 redesignating
575 present § 3461 as § 3436 of Subchapter IV, Chapter 34, Title 14 and then making deletions as shown by strike through and
576 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

577 § 3461. 3436. Critical need reimbursement program.

578 (a) Purpose. — It is the purpose of this program to increase the number of public school teachers with a standard
579 certificate in their area of instruction. This will improve student achievement by enabling and encouraging those teachers to
580 pursue education that will enable them to become fully certified and prepared to deliver high-quality instruction in state-
581 approved critical ~~needs~~ need areas. This program will provide direct reimbursement to an institute of higher education or

582 Secretary of Education-approved Alternative Routes for Teacher Licensure and Certification Program for coursework taken
583 during the academic year, which includes fall, winter, spring and summer sessions.

584 (b) Eligibility. — ~~(1) [Repealed.]~~

585 ~~(2) Eligible teachers-Applicants~~ must meet all of the following criteria:

586 a. ~~(1) Are-Be~~ full-time employees of a Delaware public school district or a charter school.

587 b. ~~(2)~~ Teach on an emergency certification or a certificate of eligibility.

588 e. ~~(3)~~ Teach in a critical need areas-area as defined by the Department of Education.

589 ~~1. (c)~~ The Department shall identify a list of critical ~~needs~~ need areas and publish the list on the Department's
590 website annually.

591 ~~2. (d)~~ Eligible institutions of higher education include any out-of-state regionally-accredited college or university,
592 or Alternative Routes for Teacher Licensure and Certification Programs approved by the Delaware Secretary of Education
593 and authorized to operate in Delaware.

594 ~~(3), (4) [Repealed.]~~

595 ~~(e), (d) [Repealed.]~~

596 (e) Reimbursements. —

597 (1) a. Reimbursement ~~shall~~ will be provided to eligible institutions and ~~for~~ programs identified in ~~subsection~~
598 ~~(b)~~ subsections (c) and (d) of this section for approved coursework that meets Department of Education requirements.

599 a. b. For a full-time employee of a public school district or charter school teaching on an emergency
600 certification or certificate of eligibility, up to 1 of the following per academic year:

601 1. Two noncredit-bearing seminars or workshops required for certification.

602 2. Up to 6 credits.

603 3. One noncredit-bearing seminar or workshop required for certification up to 1 3-credit course.

604 (2) Reimbursement funds shall be distributed to the institution of higher education upon course completion with a
605 2.0 or higher on a 4.0 scale for credit bearing courses or an equivalent passing grade in a noncredit-bearing course. Eligible
606 institutions must verify enrollment and course grades prior to disbursement of funds.

607 (3) Funding may not exceed the cost of tuition and fees or the equivalent at the highest cost public institution in
608 Delaware. If funding exceeds the appropriation, eligible institutions of higher education will be awarded funds in a prorated
609 share of the applicant pool.

610 (4) The Department may set aside funds as available for teachers meeting these criteria as demand requires.

611 Section 4. Amend § 153, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
612 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

613 § 153. Matriculation and academic promotion requirements.

614 (c) ~~The Department, by regulation, shall establish a program to recognize superior and proficient student~~
615 ~~performance on the assessments administered pursuant to § 151(b) and (c) of this title. Such a program for superior and~~
616 ~~proficient performance shall include: the award of certificates and plaques and the endorsement of student transcripts. The~~
617 ~~program shall also include the award of funds which may be used by students who demonstrate superior performance to~~
618 ~~defray the costs of post-secondary education. Scholarships awarded pursuant to this program shall be known as the Michael~~
619 ~~C. Ferguson Achievement Awards and shall be administered by the Delaware Higher Education Office. A maximum of 600~~
620 ~~scholarships at \$1,000 each may be awarded to students annually in the following manner: the students with the 150 highest~~
621 ~~scores on assessment or assessments in the state assessment system without reference to any other indicators of~~
622 ~~performances and the students with the 150 highest scores on assessment or assessments in the state assessment system who~~
623 ~~participate in free and reduced lunch programs in grades 8 and 10. The Department of Education will promulgate rules and~~
624 ~~regulations to implement this program. The Department will promulgate rules and regulations for scholarships awarded~~
625 ~~through the Michael C. Ferguson Achievement Awards program prior to 2016. Unused funds will revert to the~~
626 ~~Scholarships fund for the Delaware Higher Education Office to allocate among the various programs under Chapter 34 of~~
627 ~~this title, with prior approval of the Secretary of Education, the Director of the Office of Management and Budget, and the~~
628 ~~Controller General, to meet state priorities, achieve program objectives, and respond to student demand.~~

629 Section 5. Amend Subchapter V, Chapter 34, Title 14 and Subchapter VII, Chapter 34, Title 14 of the Delaware
630 Code by transferring § 3445 from Subchapter V, Chapter 34, Title 14 to Subchapter VII, Chapter 34, Title 14 redesignating
631 present § 3445 of Subchapter V, Chapter 34, Title 14 as § 3463 of Subchapter VII, Chapter 34, Title 14 and then making
632 deletions as shown by strike through and insertions as shown by underline as follows:

633 § ~~3445~~; 3463. Ivyane D.F. Davis Memorial Scholarship Fund.

634 (a) *Purpose.* — It is the intent and purpose of the General Assembly through this section to provide scholarships in
635 memory of Ivyane D.F. Davis, who died February 7, 1989, to deserving Delaware ~~residents~~students who have ~~been placed~~
636 ~~under~~ experienced foster care in Delaware, and to this end there hereby is established the Ivyane D.F. Davis Memorial
637 Scholarship Fund.

638 (b) *Administration.* — (1) Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, this scholarship fund shall be
639 administered by the Child Protection Accountability ~~Committee~~ (“~~Committee~~”). Commission (Commission) with
640 staffing from the Office of the Child Advocate.

641 (2) The ~~Committee~~ Commission shall adopt such rules and regulations as it deems necessary and proper to
642 administer the provisions of this scholarship fund.

643 (3) The ~~Committee-Commission~~ shall ~~annually report to the General Assembly of the State include in its~~
644 annual summary to the Governor and the General Assembly, as required by § 931(b)(6)a. of Title 16, the number of
645 recipients of scholarships, the institutions attended by said recipients, the total of expenditures made under this
646 scholarship fund, and such other information as it deems ~~useful for members of the General Assembly.~~ useful. The
647 summary may not include identifying or confidential information on scholarship recipients.

648 (c) *Eligibility.* — Scholarships awarded under this scholarship fund ~~shall be~~ are available to applicants who have
649 been residents of Delaware for at least 1 year immediately preceding the application and who ~~were~~ at any time ~~under~~
650 experienced foster care in Delaware, and who have been accepted at or who are attending an institution of higher learning
651 or trade school.

652 (d) *Scholarship awards.* — (1) The ~~Committee~~ Commission shall award ~~up to 50~~ Ivyane D.F. Davis Memorial
653 Scholarships ~~annually,~~ subject to General Assembly appropriations and private donations to and interest earned on proceeds
654 of the scholarship fund created under this section.

655 (2) The Commission may establish maximum and minimum awards. Scholarship awards ~~shall~~ may not exceed
656 the amount set by the ~~Committee.~~ Commission.

657 (3) Scholarships may be renewed upon application by recipients on an annual basis if the ~~Committee~~
658 Commission is satisfied that the recipient is making satisfactory academic or vocational progress.

659 (4) Selection of scholarship recipients shall be based on such criteria, established by the ~~Committee,~~
660 Commission, as academic achievement, community service, participation in extracurricular ~~activities~~ activities, and
661 promise of success in the institution of higher learning or vocational courses selected by applicants.

662 (e) *Creation of Ivyane D.F. Davis Memorial Scholarship Fund.* — (1) The Ivyane D.F. Davis Memorial
663 Scholarship Fund (“Fund”) is hereby created.

664 (2) Funding shall be appropriated by the General Assembly as a separate programmatic line to be expended in
665 accordance with the needs of the recipients.

666 (2) (3) ~~The Committee is authorized to~~ Commission may accept donations from private individuals and
667 organizations for deposit in the Fund.

668 (3) (4) ~~A portion of the Fund, not to exceed one half of the Fund’s principle and interest,~~ The Fund may be
669 used to assist the Division of Family Services in obtaining as the state required match for federal Chafee Educational
670 and Training Vouchers funding; Vouchers; provided, that the ~~Committee-Commission~~ or the Office of the Child

671 Advocate is authorized, by regulation, contract, or memorandum of understanding with the ~~Division of Family~~
672 ~~Services, Department of Services for Children, Youth and Their Families,~~ to administer the funding obtained; and
673 further provided, that the portion of the Fund used to obtain the funding is utilized in accordance with the purpose and
674 intent of this section.

675 ~~(4)-(5) Except as provided in the preceding subsection, paragraph (e)(4) of this section,~~ all appropriations from
676 the General Assembly to the Fund shall be used solely for the award of scholarships as provided under this section.

677 Section 6. Amend § 931, Title 16 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
678 insertions as shown by underline as follows and redesignating accordingly:

679 § 931. The Child Protection Accountability Commission.

680 (b) The Commission is designated as a “citizen review panel” as required under the federal Child Abuse
681 Prevention and Treatment Act, 42 U.S.C. § 5106a(c) and the “state task force” as required under the federal Children’s
682 Justice Act, 42 U.S.C. § 5106c(c). The Commission may delegate tasks to its committees, workgroups, and panels as
683 necessary to accomplish its duties. The Commission’s purpose is to monitor Delaware’s child protection system to best
684 ensure the health, safety, and well-being of Delaware’s abused, neglected, and dependent children. To that end, the
685 Commission shall meet on a quarterly basis and shall:

686 (10) Administer the Ivyane D.F. Davis Scholarship Fund as required by § 3463 of Title 14 and the federal
687 Chafee Educational and Training Vouchers as requested by the Department of Services for Children, Youth and Their
688 Families.

689 (c) The Child Advocate shall serve as the Executive Director of the Commission, and the Office of the Child
690 Advocate shall provide staff support to the Commission. The Office of the Child Advocate shall assist the Commission in
691 investigating and reviewing the deaths or near deaths of abused or neglected children under § 932 of this ~~title,~~ title and in
692 administering scholarship funds, in addition to performing any other duties assigned by the Commission. The Child
693 Advocate shall hire employees or contract for services as necessary to assist the Commission in performing its duties under
694 this subchapter, within the limitations of funds appropriated by the General Assembly or obtained from other sources.

695 Section 7. Amend §9005A, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
696 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

697 § 9005A. Duties of the Child Advocate.

698 The Child Advocate shall perform the following duties:

699 (13) Provide staff support to the Commission, including assisting the Commission, its committees, and panels
700 in investigating and reviewing the deaths or near deaths of abused or neglected ~~children.~~ children and in administering
701 scholarship funds.

702 Section 8. Amend Chapter 11A, Title 14 and Chapter 34, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by transferring Chapter
703 11A, Title 14 to Subchapter IV, Chapter 34, Title 14, redesignating present §§ 1101A through 1111A of Chapter 11A,
704 Title 14 as §§ 3437(a) through 3437(k) of Chapter 34, Title 14 and then making deletions as shown by strike through and
705 insertions as shown by underline as follows and redesignating accordingly:

706 § 3437. High needs educator student loan payment program.

707 ~~§ 1101A.~~ (a) Establishment; statement of purpose.

708 ~~(a) (1)~~ (1) There is hereby established ~~within the Department~~ a High Needs Educator Student Loan Payment
709 Program. The Program allows qualified applicants to apply for a payment from the State to the applicant's lending
710 agency, to pay a portion of the applicant's student loan debt.

711 ~~(b) (2)~~ (2) The purpose of the Program is to improve educational outcomes for struggling student populations by
712 working to retain educators of critical importance to those populations, including educators working in certification
713 areas in which Delaware has a shortage and educators working in Delaware's hardest-to-staff schools.

714 ~~(c) (3)~~ (3) The application prescribed and policies adopted pursuant to this ~~chapter section~~ shall be available on
715 the ~~Department's Office's~~ Department's Office's website.

716 § 1102A. ~~Definitions.~~ (b) As used in this section:

717 ~~The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings ascribed to them~~
718 ~~except when the context clearly indicates a different meaning:~~

719 (1) "Award" means the ~~Department's Office's~~ Department's Office's decision to make a loan payment on an applicant's behalf.

720 ~~(2) "Department" means the Delaware Department of Education.~~

721 ~~(3) (2)~~ (2) "Educator" ~~shall have the meaning set forth in~~ means as defined in § 1202 of this title. ~~The definition~~
722 ~~of "educator" also~~ "Educator" includes teachers employed by the Delaware Division for the Visually Impaired who
723 ~~teach visually impaired students.~~ students with visual impairment.

724 ~~(4) (3)~~ (3) "English learners" means students with limited English proficiency and who meet the definition of
725 English learner as that term is defined by the Department rules and regulations.

726 ~~(5) (4)~~ (4) "High needs area" ~~means;~~ means any of the following:

727 a. ~~Any A certification field the Department~~ area the Office has identified as being difficult to staff or of
728 ~~critical need, or need.~~

729 b. ~~Any~~ A school ~~either~~ in
730 ~~1. In~~ the top quartile in 3 or more of the following:
731 A. ~~1. Percentage of low-income students,~~ students.
732 B. ~~2. Percentage of English learners,~~ learners.
733 C. ~~3. Percentage of students with disabilities, or~~ disabilities.
734 D. ~~4. Percentage of minority students; or~~ students.
735 ~~2. c. A school with Having~~ 90% of its students classified as low-income, English learners, or minority.
736 e. d. Any facility operated by the Department of Services for Children, Youth and their Families in which
737 education programs are provided.
738 ~~(6)~~ (5) “Loan payment” means a payment by the ~~Department~~ Office to a successful applicant’s lending agency
739 to retire a portion of the applicant’s qualified educational loan.
740 ~~(9)~~ (8) “Program” means the High Needs Educator Student Loan Payment Program established in this ~~chapter.~~
741 section.
742 ~~(12)~~ “Secretary” means the ~~Delaware Secretary of Education.~~
743 § ~~1103A.~~ (c) ~~Funding~~ Funding. Appropriations for the Program will be made to the Department through the
744 Budget Appropriations Bill in a separate line item appropriation. ~~The Department shall also be authorized to accept private~~
745 ~~donations and federal funding to support the Program.~~
746 § ~~1104A.~~ (d) ~~Eligibility for Program~~ Program. In order to qualify to participate in the Program, all of the following
747 must apply:
748 ~~(4) The individual received a rating of at least “effective” on the Delaware Performance Appraisal System II or an~~
749 ~~alternate state approved evaluation system in the most recent evaluative cycle. The individual has not had an ineffective~~
750 ~~evaluation on the State’s current evaluation system or the equivalent thereof on a state-approved alternative educator~~
751 ~~evaluation system.~~
752 § ~~1105A.~~ (e) ~~Application~~
753 ~~(a)~~ (1) The application to participate in the Program shall require the applicant to certify that they meet the
754 eligibility requirements of § ~~1104A of this title.~~ subsection (d) of this section. The application shall otherwise be in the
755 form prescribed by the ~~Department.~~ Office.
756 ~~(b)~~ (2) The applicant must submit a new, completed application each year, along with any additional
757 information the ~~Department~~ Office may request in accordance with program regulations.
758 § ~~1106A.~~ (f) ~~Decision and disbursement~~

759 (a) (1) The ability to make awards each year is contingent upon the availability of funds.

760 (b) (2) If possible, the ~~Department~~ Office shall make an award to every applicant who satisfies the
761 requirements of this ~~chapter, section,~~ consistent with the limitations established in § 1107A of this title. subsection (g)
762 of this section.

763 (c) (3) Where there are insufficient funds to make an award to every applicant who satisfies the requirements
764 of this ~~chapter, the Secretary~~ section, the Office shall give priority to applicants who meet either of the following
765 criteria:

766 (1) a. Applicants employed in both a certification field-area and a school that the ~~Department~~ Office has
767 identified as a high needs area as defined in ~~§ 1102A(5)b. of this title; or~~ paragraph (b)(4) of this section.

768 (2) b. Applicants having the greatest financial need.

769 (d) (4) The applicants having the greatest financial need shall be determined in the sole discretion of the
770 ~~Secretary. The Secretary~~ Office. The Office shall request at least the following information, but the weight to be given
771 to the information shall be determined in the sole discretion of the ~~Secretary:~~ Office:

772 (1) a. The applicant's ~~income;~~ income.

773 (2) b. The applicant's spousal ~~income;~~ income.

774 (3) c. The number of the applicant's ~~dependents; and~~ dependents.

775 (4) d. The total amount of the applicant's qualified educational loans.

776 (e) (5) The ~~Secretary shall have~~ Office has the sole discretion to prioritize applications and determine awards
777 consistent with the requirements of ~~subsections (b) and (c)~~ paragraphs (f)(2) and (3) of this section.

778 (f) (6) The ~~Department~~ Office shall make a loan payment directly to the applicant's lending agency on behalf
779 of the applicant.

780 (g) (7) An applicant may receive only 1 award per year, and may receive no more than 5 awards in ~~their~~ the
781 applicant's lifetime.

782 § 1107A. (g) Amount of award ~~award.~~ An award under this ~~chapter~~ section shall be a minimum of \$1,000 and
783 shall not exceed \$2,000. In order to receive the award, an educator in a school as ~~defined in § 1102A(5)b. of this title,~~
784 defined as high needs under subsection (b) of this section, must be employed in the same school for which they are
785 applying for the award.

786 § 1108A. ~~Rules and regulations~~

787 (h) ~~The Department shall adopt implementing rules and regulations.~~ The Department of Education through the
788 Delaware Higher Education Office is authorized to adopt rules and regulations to implement this section, subject to the

789 State Board of Education's approval. The Department Office may adopt rules and regulations that refine or narrow
790 eligibility requirements or high needs areas, but in no event shall the Department Office expand the pool of educators who
791 may receive an award beyond the limits set forth in this chapter. section.

792 ~~§ 1109A. (i) Penalties. If it becomes apparent that an applicant knowingly submitted~~ submits false information or
793 ~~committed~~ commits fraud in connection with the application process, the Department Office may reevaluate the applicant's
794 eligibility for an award, and may withdraw an award. Any award made as the result of deliberate fraud may be recovered by
795 the State Department of Justice through an action at law.

796 ~~§ 1110A. (j) Annual reporting~~

797 ~~(a) (1) Each fiscal year, the Department Office shall report to the chairs of the House and Senate Education~~
798 ~~Committees of the General Assembly all of the following summary data, which shall be de-identified to the greatest~~
799 ~~extent possible:~~

800 ~~(1) a. The aggregate number of educators who applied for an award; award.~~

801 ~~(2) b. The aggregate number of educators who received an award; award.~~

802 ~~(3) c. The races or ethnicities represented by educators who applied for an award; award.~~

803 ~~(4) d. The races or ethnicities represented by educators who received an award; award.~~

804 ~~(5) e. The certification areas of educators who applied for an award; award.~~

805 ~~(6) f. The certification areas of educators who received an award; award.~~

806 ~~(7) g. The average amount of an award to an educator pursuant to the Program; Program.~~

807 ~~(8) h. The names of the schools that employed educators who applied for an award, and for each such~~
808 ~~school, its percentage of low-income students, English learners, students with disabilities, and minority students;~~
809 ~~students.~~

810 ~~(9) i. The names of the schools that employed educators who received an award, and for each such school,~~
811 ~~its percentage of low-income students, English learners, students with disabilities, and minority students; and~~
812 ~~students~~

813 ~~(10) j. Other summary data identified by the Secretary Office as outcome indicators.~~

814 (b) The summary data required to be provided under ~~subsection (a) paragraph (j)(1) of this section shall be~~
815 ~~included with the annual report provided to the General Assembly pursuant to § 3402(e) § 3402 of this title.~~

816 ~~§ 1111A. (k) Severability~~ If any provision of this ~~chapter section~~ or the application thereof to any person or
817 circumstance is held invalid, unenforceable or unconstitutional, the remainder of such provisions, and the application of

818 such provisions to any person or ~~circumstances~~ circumstance other than those as to which it is held invalid, shall not be
819 affected.

820 Section 9. Amend § 2722, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
821 insertions as shown by underline as follows

822 § 2722. Plans Management Board.

823 (a) *Establishment; purposes.* — There is hereby established the Plans Management Board (the “Board”). The
824 Board’s purpose shall be to administer the ~~College Investment~~ DE529 Education Savings Plan established pursuant to
825 subchapter XII, Chapter 34 of Title 14, the Delaware Achieving a Better Life Experience Program established pursuant to
826 Chapter 96A of Title 16, and the Deferred Compensation Program established pursuant to Chapter 60A of this title
827 (collectively, “the Plans”), in each case, in accordance with the individual purposes of each of the Plans.

828 (d) *Standard of care.*

829 (2) With respect to the ~~College Investment~~ DE529 Education Savings Plan (“Plan”) and Delaware Achieving
830 a Better Life Experience Program (“Program”), the Board, its subcommittees, and each of their members shall
831 discharge their duties with respect to the Plan and Program in accordance with the implementing Plan and Program
832 trust documents and applicable law. When investing, managing, or using trust assets, the Board, its subcommittees, and
833 each of their members shall act with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing
834 that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use to attain the purposes of the
835 Plan and Program. The Board may authorize the use of administrative fees from the Plan and Program to defray
836 reasonable expenses of administering each Plan and Program, including marketing expenses, and to fund scholarship,
837 match, or promotional programs as the Board, in its discretion, may establish.

838 Section 10. Amend § 1172, Title 30 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
839 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

840 § 1172. Procedures for contributions to the ~~Delaware College Investment~~ DE529 Education Savings Plan.

841 (a) The Secretary of Finance shall provide on the Delaware income tax return a means by which an individual
842 claiming and entitled to a refund on such return may elect to have the amount of such refund deposited into an existing
843 ~~Delaware College Investment~~ DE529 Education Savings Plan account established pursuant to subchapter XII of Chapter 34
844 of Title 14.

845 Section 11. This Act takes effect on July 1, 2022.

SYNOPSIS

This Act amends the Delaware Code relating to financial assistance for education in order to promote and support the state’s high demand career fields and reduce student debt for Delaware residents. The Act clarifies the Delaware

Higher Education Office's role in administering programs. Professional incentive scholarship loan programs will generally be replaced with the career-based scholarship program and the educator support scholarship and mental health services scholarship programs will be established. In addition, a loan repayment program is created for speech-language pathology and mental health professions to attract and retain these professionals in Delaware schools. Career-based and educator support scholarships will be made to Delaware students who intend to pursue careers in specific fields identified as areas of need in Delaware. Academic scholarships will be awarded to Delaware students in memory of elected officials and other distinguished citizens. Need-based scholarships will be awarded to Delaware students so that they will not be denied the opportunity of an education because of financial need.

The Act also clarifies the programs that are not administered by the Delaware Higher Education Office. The Education Endowment Fund and the Michael C. Ferguson Achievement Awards will be repealed because they are no longer funded. The Delaware College Investment Plan has been renamed the DE529 Education Savings Plan, and conforming changes are made to other parts of the Code. The Ivyane D. F. Davis Memorial Scholarship program is updated.